() 45 w/app

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 80,574

Florida Bar #273716

FILED
SID J. WHITE

DEC 8 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

BULLDOG LEASING COMPANY, INC., HEAVY MACHINERY AND TOOL TRANSPORTERS, INC., SUWANNEE TRANSPORT COMPANY, INC., and CRAWFORD CATIA,

Defendants/Petitioners,

v.

SUSAN A. CURTIS,

Plaintiff/Respondent.

PETITIONERS' JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

JOSEPH H. LOWE, ESQ.
MARLOW, CONNELL, VALERIUS,
ABRAMS, LOWE & ADLER
Post Office Box 339075
Miami, FL 33233-9075
(305) 446-0500
Direct line: (305) 460-6515

INTRODUCTION

This brief is submitted on behalf of Petitioners, Defendants/Appellees below. Petitioners will be referred to as such. Respondent, SUSAN A. CURTIS, will be referred to as Respondent or CURTIS. Reference to the Appendix accompanying this brief will be by the symbol "A." Unless otherwise indicated, all emphasis has been supplied by counsel.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a proceeding to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal (A. 1-7). This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. (1990). The decision expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of this Court and the other district courts of appeal on the same question of law.

Respondent was injured on June 5, 1981, when she plowed into the rear of an 8-foot wide tractor trailer truck at 56 miles per hour. The truck had come to a stop on the left shoulder of Interstate 95 in Palm Beach County with six feet of the truck on the shoulder and only two feet extending into the 12-foot left hand lane of the highway. The truck had come to a stop at that point as a result of a prior accident involving another vehicle which had lost control and skidded into the truck's lane of traffic. The truck had moved into the left hand lane to avoid that vehicle and then came to a stop several hundred feet further south.

Due to the conditions of the median strip, the driver was unable to pull his truck totally off the road. He pulled it off as far as he could leaving two feet of his truck extending into the

lane of traffic. The record below amply demonstrated that there was some 10 feet of lane still available and vehicles were still able to travel in the left lane without any difficulty. Indeed, when the ambulance arrived to take Respondent to the hospital, it was able to pull up next to the truck in the left hand lane and it did not block the center or right hand lanes of traffic. There was testimony that after the truck driver parked his car he approached an off-duty Boca Raton police sergeant and asked the sergeant if his truck was parked properly, and was told that it was. Based upon this factual situation, the jury returned a verdict finding the Appellant ninety (90%) percent at fault in causing the accident and awarding \$275,000 in damages.

Curtis admitted during the trial that the vehicle she was operating had seat belts and that she did not use them. She also testified that her boyfriend at the time (now her husband) had driven the car prior to the accident and had used the seat belts. The trial court deemed this testimony sufficient to permit the seat belt defense to be decided by the jury and the jury answered the Pasakarnis interrogatory questions affirmatively and reduced her damage award by sixty-seven and one-half (67.5%) percent. (A copy of the jury verdict appears in the Appendix, A. 8-12).

Respondent timely filed a notice of appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The court in a majority decision determined that there was insufficient evidence to permit the seat belt defense to have been presented to the jury. It then further determined that a new trial on both damages and liability was required as the circumstances under which the jury arrived at the

percentage of negligence was confusing since the seat belt defense had been presented to them.

Petitioners moved for a re-hearing and/or certification and rehearing en banc. The basis for the motion for re-hearing was that the trial judge followed this court's decision in <u>Insurance Company of North America v. Pasakarnis</u>, 451 So.2d 447 (Fla. 1984) and, therefore, by following this court's directions could not have created confusion by permitting the seat belt defense to go to the jury.

Additionally, Petitioners advised the Fourth District that all other district courts of appeal which have ruled that a seat belt defense had been improperly submitted to a jury had merely vacated that portion of the verdict and remanded the matter to the trial court for entry of judgment based upon the jury verdict without considering the seat belt mitigation. In addition, another panel from the Fourth District in the case of <u>Barcello v. Rubin</u>, 578 So.2d 58 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>review denied</u> 589 So.2d. 292 (Fla. 1991), had joined the other district courts under identical circumstances. Petitioners' motions were denied and this petition follows.

POINTS ON APPEAL

- I. THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THIS COURT IN INSURANCE COMPANY OF NORTH AMERICA v. PASAKARNIS, 451 SO.2d 447 (Fla. 1984)
- II. THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THE OTHER FOUR DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL WHO HAVE UNIFORMLY HELD THAT WHERE A SEATBELT DEFENSE HAS BEEN IMPROPERLY PRESENTED TO THE JURY THE MATTER IS TO BE REMANDED TO THE LOWER COURT

TO RECOMPUTE THE NET DAMAGES WITHOUT THE NECESSITY OF A NEW TRIAL.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Susan Curtis v. Bulldog Leasing Company, Inc. conflicts with this Court's opinion in Insurance Company of North America v. Pasakarnis, 451 So.2d 447 (Fla. 1984) because the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that the trial court's use of the instructions and verdict form propounded by this Court in Pasakarnis were such that it "confused" the jury. The Fourth District, in conflict with this Court, reversed and remanded for a new trial on issues of liability and damages.

The decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of other district courts of appeal. These courts have uniformly held that when the seat belt defense has improperly gone to the jury, the matter is merely to be remanded to the lower court for recomputation with the net damages to the plaintiff. Here the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed and remanded for a new trial on all issues.

ARGUMENT Preliminary Statement

This Court has identified two basic forms of decisional conflict which will trigger the exercise of its jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution. A conflict will exist when either an announced rule of law conflicts with other appellate expressions of law or where a rule of law is applied to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same controlling facts as a prior case, Nielsen v. City of Sarasota, 117 So.2d 731, 734 (Fla. 1960); City of Jacksonville v. Florida First National Bank of Jacksonville, 339 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1976).

In the case of <u>Ansin v. Thurston</u>, 101 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1958) this court established the jurisdictional test which it will apply when conflict certiorari is alleged.

The test is that a conflict of decisions exist when a decision resolves a question of law such that one decision would overrule the other if both were rendered by the same court.

Under this test, it is clear that the district court's decision is in conflict with this court's decision in <u>Pasakarnis</u> and decisions of the other district courts of appeal in <u>Smith v. Holy Temple Church of God and Christ, Inc.</u>, 566 So.2d 864 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); <u>Knapp v. Shores</u>, 550 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), <u>review denied</u> 563 So.2d 634 (Fla. 1990); <u>Devolder v. Sandage</u>, 544 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); <u>DeLong v. Wicks Co.</u>, 545 So.2d 362 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); <u>Harding v. Harris Sanitation</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 522 So.2d 86 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988).

POINT I

The Fourth District in its decision relied almost exclusively on <u>Pasakarnis</u>. In <u>Pasakarnis</u>, this court stated:

To avoid confusion on the part of the jury in arriving at its verdict where seat belt evidence has been introduced and in order to clearly define the distinction between one's negligent contribution to the accident, on the one hand, and to his damages on the other, we agree with Judge Schwartz's statement in his dissenting opinion that the obvious solution is simply to add interrogatories to the special verdict form to elicit this information. For this reason we authorize the

trial courts in appropriate cases to add the following interrogatories to the typical verdict form in automobile cases:

451 So.2d at 454.

The Court then sets forth the interrogatories that were in fact used in this case.

Here, the trial court used the procedure set out in <u>Pasakarnis</u> "to avoid confusion on the part of the jury" and was found to have therefore confused the jury. In <u>Pasakarnis</u>, the Court set forth the appropriate procedure for submitting a seat belt defense to the jury. The Court <u>specifically</u> set forth the interrogatory questions to be asked of a juror and also noted:

"These additional interrogatories [the seat belt defense interrogatories; should follow the interrogatory in the verdict which asks the jury to give the total amount of any damages sustained by the plaintiff and caused by the incident in question. If the jury returns their verdict for the plaintiff, finds that plaintiff's negligence was a contributing of the accident and finds plaintiff's failure to wear an available and fully operational seat belt produced contributed substantially to producing at least a portion of plaintiff's damages, the trial court in its final judgment should first reduce the total amount of damages by the percentage of the plaintiff's contributory negligence and then reduce this amount by the percentage attributable to the plaintiff's failure to wear the seat belt." Id. 451.

The Fourth District's decision misconstrues and conflicts with the holding of <u>Pasakarnis</u>. Here, the trial court used an interrogatory verdict mandated by this Court in <u>Pasakarnis</u>. This Court was well aware that a jury would first consider the negligence issue and then the seat belt issue. It did not find such analysis by a jury inappropriate or "confusing."

It is submitted that the decision is in direct conflict with Pasakarnis in that it reverses the trial court which followed Pasakarnis and submitted a verdict form to the jury containing the interrogatory questions set forth in Pasakarnis. It is submitted that to reverse the trial judge for following the mandates of this Court creates conflict with this Court's decision in Pasakarnis.

POINT II

The Fourth District here (as well as the Fourth District's earlier decision in the case of Youngentob v. Allstate Insurance Company, 519 So.2d 636 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) stands alone in Florida in holding that when a trial court has improperly permitted the seat belt defense to be submitted to a jury, a new trial on both liability and damages is required. All other district courts of appeal (and indeed even another panel of the Fourth District in Barcello v. Rubin, 578 So.2d 58 (Fla. 4th DCA, review denied 589 So.2d 292 (Fla. 1991)) have uniformly held that when the seat belt defense has improperly gone to the jury the matter is merely to be remanded to the lower court for recomputation of the net damages to None of the other district courts be awarded the plaintiff. require that a new trial be granted. See: Smith v. Holy Temple Church of God and Christ, Inc., 566 So.2d 864 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); Knapp v. Shores, 550 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), rev. denied, 563 So.2d 634 (Fla. 1990); Devolder v. Sandage, 544 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); DeLong v. Wickes Co., 545 So.2d 362 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); Harding v. Harris Sanitation, Inc., 522 So.2d 86 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988).

The facts here are legally indistinguishable from the facts of

these other decisions. In each of these decisions, the trial judge had improperly permitted the seat belt defense to be considered by the jury and the appellate court reversed. In each of these decisions, the jury had considered the negligence of the parties, determined fault and damages and then considered the seat belt interrogatory questions and made its findings. None of these decisions, however, found that there was any confusion created by the <u>Pasakarnis</u> verdict form and instructions such that the appellate court could not "be sure with mathematical exactitude" what the outcome would have been had the jury not considered the seat belt defense.

As Judge Anstead points out in his dissent, there is no necessity for a new trial and the case should be remanded with instructions that the damage reduction be stricken (citing all cases set forth above).

Four of the five district courts of appeal of this state uniformly hold that a new trial is not required when the seat belt defense has improperly gone to the jury. Only in the Fourth District is a defendant subjected to the risk that if a reviewing court determines that a seat belt defense should not have been submitted to the jury, the matter is reversed for a new trial on liability and damages. This conflict among the district courts should be resolved and uniformity established.

CONCLUSION

The decision of the Fourth District conflicts with decisions of each of the other district court as well as with this Court's decision in Pasakarnis. This court should accept jurisdiction to

resolve the conflict and correct the erroneous precedent the case creates. Though the legislature has adopted a statute, F.S. §316.614 (1991), requiring that seat belts be utilized, the failure of which is comparative negligence, the Statute only applies to front seat passengers. Pasakarnis remains the law for rear-seat passengers. Therefore, the issue has not been mooted by the Statute. This serious conflict should be resolved by this Court.

For the foregoing reasons, Petitioners respectfully request that this court accept jurisdiction of this case.