SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
DEC 23 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

BULLDOG LEASING COMPANY, INC., et al.,

Petitioners,

 \mathbf{v} .

CASE NO.: 80,574

SUSAN A. CURTIS,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S JURISDICTIONAL ANSWER BRIEF

THOMAS HOADLEY, Esquire HOADLEY & NOSKA, P.A. 320 Fern Street West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 833-1677

INTRODUCTION

This brief is submitted on behalf of Respondent, Plaintiff/Appellant below. Petitioners will be referred to as such. Respondent, SUSAN A. CURTIS, will be referred to as Respondent or CURTIS. Reference to the Appendix accompanying this brief will be by the symbol "AMB" for the attached Appellant's Main Brief and "ARB" for the attached Appellant's Reply Brief Unless otherwise indicated, all emphasis has been supplied by counsel.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent was injured on June 5, 1981, when she assumed that a tractor/trailer six feet into the fast lane on I-95 was moving rather than parked and collided with this illegally parked vehicle. Although the defense was well aware that there was absolutely no evidence available to the defense that the seat belt in the Respondent's vehicle was operational, it was stressed time and time again that the failure to use the seat belt was comparative negligence. The manner in which the case progressed and the facts of the case were very complicated and are contained in 19 pages of the Appellant's Main Brief attached, AMB 1-19.

There was no instruction given to this jury that the failure to use a seat belt should not be factored into the general charge on comparative negligence prior to reaching a decision on the special inter-rogatory verdict related to the seat belt defense. This allowed the jury to make two reductions; one under comparative negligence, and again under the special interrogatory verdict.

POINTS ON APPEAL

- I. DOES THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF THIS COURT IN INSURANCE COMPANY OF NORTH AMERICA v. PASAKARNIS, 451 So. 2D 447 (Fla. 1984).
- II. DOES THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THE OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Although the Court may have expressed an opinion as to interrogatory type verdict questions related to the seat belt defense, this decision did not address how and whether the jury should be instructed as to whether the seat belt defense could be factored into the first decision on the question of comparative negligence. Although in <u>Insurance Company of North America v.</u> Pasakarnis, 451 So.2d 447 (Fla. 1984) the Court set forth the appropriate procedure for submitting a seat belt defense to the jury by interrogatory questions, it made no provision for insuring that a jury would not "double dip" and utilize the comparative negligence in a failure to use a seat belt in both a general comparative negligence computation and again in the seat belt defense computation. It is obvious this was causing confusion for Florida legislature who would not have passed legislation to correct this confusion and possible inequity in the law.

ARGUMENT

There is no conflict as shown in the judicial decisions 1. referred to by counsel for the Petitioners. Although it is clear in this case from the record that the trial court did not instruct the jury to not consider the question of Plaintiff's failure to use the seat belt in making a decision on the comparative negligence issue, there is no way to determine whether the Judges in the case of Barcello v. Rubin, 578 So.2d 58 (Fla. 4th DCA) or any other case in other District Courts of Appeal did or didn't so instruct. problem and possible confusion that can arise from the verdict form suggested by the Supreme Court is not intrinsic to the verdict form, but occurs because a jury is not fully instructed that it should not consider the seat belt defense in the initial decision on comparative negligence. It is obvious that there was quite a lot of confusion involving this because the matter came before the Florida Legislature almost immediately. The Legislature corrected the situation by placing the seat belt defense in the general category of comparative negligence. There was obviously a reason that the Florida legislature passed this specific legislation aimed at this specific problem; and it should be obvious to all concerned that it was to correct the confusion concerning this type of verdict.

- 2. Therefore, when Judge Letts states that the circumstances under which this jury arrived at the percentage of negligence are confusing, he is only mirroring what trial attorneys throughout Florida and the Florida Legislature believed at the time this verdict was rendered.
- 3. The Respondent would hope that any other reviewing Judge that held the case should go back for the entry of a final judgment only on a reduction of the verdict in accordance with a seat belt verdict would have found in the record sufficient instruction on the part of the trial judge that would lead the reviewing Judges to believe that there was no confusion on the part of the jury, as in this case.
- 4. The above is true in this case, particularly since the Plaintiff's failure to wear her seat belt was repeatedly dramatized throughout this trial by defense counsel and references to the seat belt were made in opening and closing arguments as well as during the examination and cross-examination of witnesses. It was stressed that the Plaintiff's failure to wear a seat belt was, in fact, negligence; and nowhere during this trial was there any instruction that the failure of the Plaintiff to wear a seat belt could not be additionally factored into the general defense claim of comparative negligence.
- 5. This decision is also fair in that defense counsel at the trial continually stressed that there was evidence in the testimony that there was, in fact, an operational seat belt available to the Plaintiff, and thusly convinced the Judge to erroneously give this

charge. The record is very clear that there was not one scintilla of evidence that these seat belts were operational in accordance with current case law. See Appellant's Reply Brief, ARB 1-6.

6. The Respondent attaches its Main Brief as filed in the District Court of Appeal for the Fourth District as Exhibit "A" and the Reply Brief filed in the District Court of Appeal for the Fourth District as Exhibit "B" as her Appendix.

CONCLUSION

The Respondent does not believe that the Petitioners have demonstrated a clear conflict with other cases and states that the decision in this case is in line with generally held law that instructions which tend to confuse rather than enlighten, and which are calculated to and might mislead a jury and cause them to arrive at conclusions that otherwise would not have been reached by them is cause for reversal of the judgment. Florida Motor Lines v. Bradley, 121 Fla 591, 164 So. 360 (1985). Marley v. Saunders, 249 So. 2d 30 (1972) conformed 251 So. 2d 892.